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Panther Bidco Limited
Strategic report
For the period ended 31 March 2022

The directors present a strategic report of the Group and the Company as required by section 414(A) to 414(D)
of the Companies Act 2006.

Principal activities

Panther Bidco Limited (“the Company”) is a holding company incorporated on 10 November 2020. On 31
March 2021 the Company acquired Giacom Group Holdings Limited, DWS Group Holdings Limited and AKJ
Group Holdings Limited and their respective subsidiaries upon their demerger from their previous parent Daisy
Group Holding Limited. The Company and its subsidiary companies {together “the Group”) provides a full suite
of communications and cloud solutions to over 5,000 UK channel partners, including mohile communications,
connectivity, cloud and other services via its end-to-end technology platform. These channel partners help
small and medium-size businesses {“SMB’s”) to access and use the essential technology they need to operate.
The Group’s technology platform provides channel partners with access to some of the largest
communications and cloud technology and services providers on attractive commercial terms and offers
automated ordering, provisioning and billing services. The Group provides services to its channel partners via
the Digital Wholesale Selutions [DWS), Giacom and Union Street brands.

The financial statements have been prepared for the 17-month period from incorporation on 10 November
2020 to 31 March 2022. With the trading entities within the Group acquired on 31 March 2021, the
consolidated income statement effectively represents business performance for the year to 31 March 2022.

The Group has performed strongly in the year to 31 March 2022, with pro forma revenue growth of 14.0%. All
of the Group’s core product areas: mobility, connectivity and cloud services, achieved double-digit pro forma
revenue growth, demoanstrating its ability to grow market share.

Market and business strategy

.. The market for technology provision to the SMB sector addressable by the Group is estimzted to be valued at
over £10 killion per annum in the United Kingdoni and is in structural growth. The market remains highly
fragmented, with an estimated 10,000 channel partners and resellers offering services to end SMB customers.
The Group is well positioned to take further share by successfully enabling channel partners to sell more
effectively to their SMB customers through its technology platform and broad suite of next generation
communications and cloud products.

Many SMB customers buy services directly from the major telecommunication and technology providers, but
don't have the resources and expertise to manage the multiple suppliers and technologies needed to run their
business. The Group is a leader in providing technology services to its channel partners, who in turn help SMB
customers effectively access the technology they need. While the SMB technology services market overall is
growing at approximately 4% per annum, the trading entities that make up the Group have delivered over 13%
compound annual revenue growth over the last four years. This has been achieved by providing channel
partners with market leading products via the Group’s technology platform alongside the technical support
they need to succeed.

The Group offers major telecommunication and technology vendors an effective route to reach the SMB
market at scale. Close integration with the Group's technology platform and attractive commercial
arrangements make the Group an important route to the SMB market for the major technology services
vendors. At the same time, the Group is able to leverage its buying power by operating at scale to achieve
marketing leading buy rates with major vendors for the benefit of its channel partners.

In a fast-moving market, the Group continues to invest in bringing new product to its platform and creating
new opportunities for channel partners to capture higher growth across key segments. These new product
segments include mobile data applications, connectivity focused on fibre-to-the-premise, cyber security,
public cloud and cloud communications services.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Strategic report
For the period ended 31 March 2022

The Group proactively invests in its technology platform and tools, service automation and data and analytics
capabilities to enhance its proposition to channel partners. Having the best people to support channel partners
across marketing, operations and technical support is also critical for the continued success of the Group. To
that end, the Group remains committed to investing in the peaple skills and capabilities to support its channe|
partners.

Business Review

The Group performed strongly in its first period of trading following the demerger. Group revenue increased
to £320.1m, up 14.0% from the pro forma revenues of £280.8m for the year to 31 March 2021, reflecting
strong demand across the major product lines offered to channel partners. The Group has good visibility of its
monthly revenues with ¢.90% coming from recurring sources in the period to 31 March 2022,

The Group achieved gross profits of £100.7m with a gross profit margin of 31.5%. Adjusted EBITDA of £63.3m
and Adjusted EBITDA margin of 19.8% were reported in the period after investment in the sales, technology
and operational resources to support future growth.

Key performance indicators {KP!s):

Period ended Pro forma

31 March 2022* 31 March 2021*

{unaudited)

£m £m

Revenue 3201 280.8

Gross profit 100.7
Gross profit ma‘rgin 31.5%
Adjusted EBITDA** 63.3
Adjusted EBITDA margin 15.8%
Operating loss {4.4)
Free Cash Flow*** 46.2
Cash generated from operations 198

* Due to the Group’s acquisition of its trading subsidiaries on 31 March 2021, revenues for the year ended
31 March 2021 have been extracted and aggregated from statutory financial statements and management
information available for the entities making up the Group to provide a comparative pro forma measure.
These revenues for the year to 31 March 2021 are unaudited.

** Adjusted EBITDA is operating profit before amortisation, depreciation, exceptional items and other non-
trading items which the directors tonsider the most appropriate measure of the Group’s results that they
use to make decisions about the business. A reconciliation from Adjusted EBITDA to operating loss can be

found on the Consolidated income Statement on page 21.

*** Free Cash Flow is Adjusted EBITDA less payments to acquire intangible assets and purchases of property,
plant and equipment. The Group uses Free Cash Flow as an important measure of performance as it believes
it best describes the underlying cash generation of the business after capital investment. A reconciliation
from Adjusted EBITDA to Free Cash Flow is shown in this Strategic report on page 7.
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The Group offers the following products and services to its channel partners:

Mobile communications Business mohile airtime, voice and data solutions via service
provider and network bilted offerings. Data-only services and
applications.

Connectivity Business connectivity solutions including ethernet, fibre-to-the-
premise, broadband and line rental products.

Cloud Licensed software-as-a-service solutions including productivity,
public cloud, backup, security, voice and hosted offerings.

Other Hardware sales, partner software tools and support services.

Traditional voice services.

Revenue and organic growth analysis by product:

Period ending Pro forma Pro forma

31 March 2022 31 March 2921* growth

{unaudited) %

£m
£m

Mebile communications 101.6 82.8 227
Connectivity 66.8 60.7 10.0
Cloud 85.3 66.3 28.6
Other 66.4 71.0 {6.5)
Total 320.1 280.8 14.0

Both periods presented in the table above represent 12 months of trading.

The Group achieved revenue of £320.1m, up 14.0% on a pro forma basis in the period as follows:

Mobile communications revenues showed strong growth of 22.7% in the period to 31 March 2022 to
£101.6m across both its service provider and network billed offers. White currently representing 13%
of mobile communicasions revenue in the period, the Group expects that 10T and other data-only
mobile applications will become an important component of future growth as an increasing number
of devices are connected to the internet.

Connectivity revenues grew by 10.0% in the period to 31 March 2022 to £66.8m, with growth in new
connectivity products significantly cut-pacing reductions in traditional line rental services. The PSTN
switch off in the United Kingdom represents a significant growth opportunity for the Group as it
facilitates the transition of customers to new connectivity and internet protocol services such as fibre-
to-the-premise and single-order broadband.

Cloud revenues grew by 28.6% in the period to 31 March 2022 to £85.3m, primarily driven by strong
software licence and hosted voice solutions growth as weil as end customers increasingly accessing
public cloud services such as Microsoft Azure. The SMB sector remains under-penetrated for public
cloud use, representing a significant growth opportunity for the Group.

Other revenues declined by 6.5% in the period to 31 March 2022 to £66.4m. Good growth was
achieved in partner software and in hardware sales with the launch the Group’s technology store
offer. This was offset by the decline in traditional voice services with SMEB’s activity moved to cloud
licences and hosted voice solutions because of the pandemic. Traditional voice revenues declined to
£12.8m in the period from £23.3m in the year to March 2021. Excluding traditional voice services,
other revenues increased by 12.4% to £53.6m in the period.
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Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Group operating loss:

Period ended
31 March 2022

£m
Adjusted EBITDA** 63.3
Amortisation (34.2)
Depreciation {1.9)
Exceptional costs (26.1)
Other non-trading items {5.5)
Operating loss (4.4)

The operating loss of £4.4m for the period to 31 March 2022 was after amortisation of £34.2m, depreciation
of £1.9m, exceptional costs of £26.1m and other non-trading items of £5.5m. Exceptional costs in the period
included £24.8m of costs related to the demerger and £1.3m of costs relating to the subsequent reorganization
of the Group. Other non-trading items included £4.5m in relation to non-cash share-based payments as
described in note 27 to the financial statements on page 59.

The Group loss before tax was £37.8m in the period to 31 March 2022 after net finance costs of £33.4m.
Further details of net financing costs in the period are provided in note 9 to the financial statements on page

40.

Cash generated from operations was £36.2m in the period to 31 March 2022 before a working capital outflow
of £16.4m This warking capital autflow was primarily due to a one-off cutflow to support new network dealers
acquired in the period and the payment of VAT that was deferred under the UK Government scheme during
the pandemic. Cash generated from operations was therefore £19.8m after working capital changes in the
period to 31 March 2022.

Tax paid in the period to 31 March 2022 was £7.7m. Additions to intangible assets totalled £15.2m in the
period to 31 March 2022 included investment in software platforms of £9.7m, and the acquisition of customer
lists of £5.5m as part of a transaction that saw the transfer of new network billed dealers to the Group. Cash
interest paid on borrowings in the period to 31 March 2022 was £30.9m.

The Group generated Free Cash Flow of £46.2m in the period as set outin the table below. The board considers
Free Cash Flow {being Adjusted EBITDA less additions to intangible assets and purchased property, plant and
equipment) as a key measure of cash generation.

Free Cash Flow
Period ended

31 March 2022

£fm
Adjusted EBITDA 63.3
Additions to intangible assets (15.2}
Purchased property, plant and equipment {1.9)

Free Cash Flow 46.2
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Reconciliation of Operating Cash Flow to cash

generated from operations: .
Period ended

31 March 2022

£m
Free Cash Flow 46.2
Additions to intangible assets 15.2
Purchased property, plant and equipment 19
Exceptional costs {26.1)
Other non-trading itermns {1.0)
Cash generated from operations 36.2

The Group had net liabilities of £36.0m and net current liabilities of £637.0m at 31 March 2022.

Total borrowings at 31 March 2022 were £1,034.8m, reflecting the funding structure of the Group putin place
at the demerger including senior debt and parent company loans as follows:

As at
31 March 2022 Maturity
£m
401.8 March 2028

632.9 -

Senior debt

Parent company loans

Total borrowings 1,034.8

Further details of the borrowings of the Group at 31 March 2022 and financial instruments and risk
management are provide in notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements on pages 48 to 51.

Senior debt less cash and bank balances at 31 March 2022 was £395.8m, representing 6.3 times Adjusted
EBITDA. The strong cash flow generation from operations, financial covenant structure and the longer-term
nature of its borrowings means that the Group is well placed to finance its ongoing activities.

Qutlook
The Group has delivered strong trading results in its first period following its demerger, combining excellent

revenue growth with robust Adjusted EBITDA margins and Operating Cash Flow. This has been achieved while
investing in both the platform technology and people to support its channel partners. The Group is a leader in
the attractive £10bn plus UK SMB technology services market and is well positioned to demonstrate good
revenue growth, profitability and cash generation in the future.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The directors regularly assess the key business risks of the Group and the Company, which are considered to

be:

Increased competition

The telecommunications and technology service market could become more competitive, and the Group could
suffer from increased competition. The Group mitigates this risk by focusing on providing the highest possible
level of customer service whilst offering customers a broad range of competitively priced products.
Furthermore, the Group monitors the activity of competitors through its industry information sources and the
wider market to ensure that it is positioned appropriately with its product and service portfolio.

Technological change

The market for the Group’s services is characterised by technological developments and changes, frequent
introductions of new products and services and evolving industry standards. There is a risk that the Group may
fail to secure the necessary contracts to supply its customers with the latest technology. The Company
mitigates this risk by maintaining close relationships with suppliers, which it believes will keep it at the
forefront of product development on a sustained basis, and monitors trends in technological advancement te
anticipate and plan for future changes through its dedicated product teams.

Key resources

The Group is managed by certain key personnel, including executive directors and senior management who
have significant experience within the Group and the wider IT communications sectors and who may be
difficult to replace. Furthermore, the Group depends on being able to recruit and retain employees of an
appropriate calibre to win and service significant contracts. The Group has sought to mitigate this resource
risk by investing in staff training programmes, competitive reward and compensation packages, management
incentive schemes and succession planning.

Regulatory change

The Group recognises that the pricing of products and services and the activities of major industry
organisations may be affected by the actions of regulatory bodies. Such actions could affect the Group’s
profitability either directly or indirectly. The Group mitigates this risk by monitoring and assessing the
likelihood and potential impact of regulatory change including working in conjunction with its major suppliers.

Dato protection and IT security

The Group helds certain confidential data. Failure to comply with data privacy regulations and standards or
weakness in internet security may result in a major data privacy breach causing reputational damage to the
Group’s brands and financial loss. Breach of IT security may cause data to be lost, corrupted or accessed by
unauthorised users, impacting the Group’s reputation. This could give rise to legal or regulatory penalties as
well as commercial costs. The Group has processes and procedures in place to monitor effectiveness of
customer back-up and is continually upgrading security equipment and software and making improvements
to physical security processes. Penetration testing is performed on a regular basis to test the security of the
sites and data. Thorough investigations are carried out of any incidents arising and corrective action is taken.

interest rate risk
A proportion of the Group’s borrowings are exposed to changes in market interest rates, specifically senior
debt service costs change with SONIA. The Group regularly reviews its exposure to interest rate risk and

implements interest rate hedging as appropriate
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Section 172 Statement

Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the directors have a duty to promote the success of the
Company for the benefit of its members as a whole. This includes having due regard to the broad range of
stakeholders of the Company, such as its workforce, customers, suppliers, shareholders and its impact on the
wider community and environment.

The Company’s board is made up of its directors, who together are responsible for setting the strategy and
managing the Group in line with established corporate governance principles. The board regularly reviews the
Groups strategic objectives, goals and priorities to ensure that the long-term consequences of decisions are
well understood.

The Company engages with its shareholders on a regular basis through formal board meetings, board audit
and remuneration committees and through monthly presentation of business and financial information.

It is a strategic priority for the Group to continue to enhance its reputation and advocacy amongst its channel
partners and employees. Employee surveys are issued at least annually, and the results discussed with
employee engagement groups. Further opportunities for employees to engage with senior management on
issues affecting them are given through regular employee forums and roadshows. Customer feedback is
sought regularly, whether as part of the customer experience follow up after specific interaction or through
regular scheduled service review meetings over the course of the pericd. Value-adding initiatives are also
provided for customers, such as webinars and training days. Similarly, regular review meetings are held with
the main suppliers to the Group.

Engagement with the wider community is led by the senior management who champion interactions with local
communities and charities. The environmental impact of the Group’s operations is also activity addressed
through established energy and carbon reduction initiatives.

The board is committed to maintaining a high standard of business conduct and to act fairly between its
members. This commitment is supported by the governance structure and policies that are in place and
continue to be enhanced in response to changes in the business environment.

Approved by the board of directors on 10 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:

Indy Band

BRIOIZ6LBEB14AT.. e ievrenaiia
Andrew Boland
Director

10
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The directors present their first annual report and the audited financial statements of the Group and Company
for the 17-month period from incorporation to 31 March 2022. Details of future developments can be found
in the strategic report and form part of this report by cross reference, as permitted by section 414C(11) of the
Companies Act 2006.

Business risk management
Senior management are responsible for managing risks across the business, within a risk management

framework that seeks to evaluate and mitigate the impact of strategic and systematic risks on the business
and to assess the cause and determine specific remediation actions for individual risk incidents. A structured
project management approach is taken to ensure effective execution of the plans that support the Group’s
strategic pricrities. Insurance policies are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are adequate and appropriate
for the nature, size and compiexity of the business.

Financial risk management
The Group’s operations are exposed to financial risks, principally credit risk, interest rate and liquidity risk.

Credit risk
Appropriate credit checks are undertaken on all potential customers before new contracts are accepted.

Individual exposures are monitored with customers to ensure the Company’s exposure to bad debts is
minimised. Credit risk associated with cash balances is managed by transacting with financial institutions with
high quality credit ratings. Accordingly, the Group’s associated credit risk is deemed to be limited. All
associated financial institutions utilised by the Group require the advance approval of the Board.

Interest rate risk
A proportion of the Group’s borrowings are exposed to changes in market interest rates, specifically senior

debt service costs change with SONIA. The Group regularly reviews its exposure to interest rate risk and
implements interest rate hedging as appropriate. The Group currently has interest rate hedging in place which
is further described in note 19 to the financial statements on pages 49 - 51.

Liquidity risk
The Group regularly forecasts cash flow to ensure that sufficient cash is available to fund its operating
expenses, capital investment and debt service costs.

Policy on payment to suppliers
The Group's supplier payment policy is to agree terms and conditions for business transactions with suppliers

in advance and then make payments promptly in-line with agreed terms. Payment terms with suppliers is in
the ordinary course within 60 days of invoice.

Proposed dividend
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

11
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Directors
The directors who were in office during the period and up to the date of signing the financial statements are

given below:

Andrew Boland {appointed November 3" 2021)

Edward Lynch {appointed December 17" 2020, resigned 31* March 2021)
Terence O'Brien {appointed March 31% 2021)

David Whileman {appointed December 17 2020, resigned 31* March 2021)
Nathan Marke (appointed March 31% 2021)

Timothy Righton (appointed March 31 2021}

Gary Growns {appointed March 31* 2021}

William Yates {appointed November 10% 2020, resigned December 18" 2020)

Travers Smith Secretaries Limited {appointed November 10" 2020, resigned December 18 2020)

Future developments

The Group is focused on pursuing organic growth from the provision of services to its channel partners,
improving operational efficiency and investing in people and its digital platform te support future success. The
Group continues to assess opportunities to enhance its product offer and service provision through
commercial partnerships and selective acquisitions.

Directors' and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Group has indemnity insurance in place on behalif of its directors during the period which remains in force
at the date of this report. The articles of association of certain associated companies also contain
indemnification provisions in favour of Company directors to the extent permitted by law.

Employee participation

Consultation with employees or their representatives has continued at all levels, with the aim of ensuring that
their views are taken into account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests and that ali
employees are aware of the financial performance of their business units and of the Group as & whole. The
directors are committed to maintaining and developing communication and consultation processes with
employees, who in turn are encouraged to develop an awareness of the issues affecting the Group. The Group
aims to be an employer of choice and seeks to maintain strong employee relations in all areas in which the
Group operates. The directors place considerable emphasis on employees sharing in the success of the Group.

Engagement with employees and other business relationships
Details of the Group's engagement with its employees, customers and suppliers are given in the Section 172

statement in the strategic report.

Employment of disabled persons

Both employment policy and practice in the Group are based on non-discrimination and equal cpportunities.
The Group remains supportive of the employment and advancement of disabled people and provides
appropriate opportunities for their training, career development and promotion. Applications for employment
by disabled persons are always fully considered. Where employees have become disabled in the service of the
Group, every effort is made to rehabilitate them in their former occupation or in some suitable alternative.

Political and charitable donations

Charitable donations amounting to £14,239 were made during the period. No political donations were made
during the period.

12
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Energy and Carbon Reporting
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The Group’s environmental missian statement and strategy is summarised below:

Purpose

Carbon

Waste

Mitigate operational impacts on
the environment during the
course of our normal business
activities

The Group aims to mitigate the
impact of its operations on climate
thange.

The Group also endeavours to

The Group aims to minimise the
waste created by its operations
with a particular focus on reducing
waste plastics and packaging.

mitigate the impact of increased
energy prices and carbon taxes on
its operations.

Carbon data Carbon Dioxide Kilowatt hours

Equivalent {kWh}
(CO2e} Tonnes
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2022
Scope 1
Direct emissions from burning gas and solid
fuel to heating and from road fuel used in 51 275,988
connection with the business activities of the
Group
Scope 2
Indirect emissions from use of electricity 271 1,161,071 .
Intensity
1.0

Tonnes of CO2e from scope 1 and 2 sources
per £m of turnover (2022: £316.7m)

Scope 1 and 2 emissions are calculated for the 12-month period following the acquisition by the Group of
Giacom Group Holdings Limited, DWS Group Holdings Limited, and AKl Group Heldings Limited using the UK
government conversion facters for company reporting — the Group had no emissions before that acquisition
was completed. Emissions from domaestic refrigeration and buildings” air conditioning are not included as they
are not material to the Group's overall emissions. Scope 1 and 2 data are from measured sources from either
expenditure on fuel or (for vehicles) distance travelled. Both scope 1 and 2 emissions showed an increase in
the period due to changes in working practices resulting from the end to the pandemic. Information for the
year to 31 March 2021 has been provided on an aggregate basis for the trading entities that now make up the

Group.

The Group’s objectives for the year ended 31 March 2023 with respect to reducing carbon emissions are as

follows:
» (Continue to pursue further reductions in carbon emissions through using experts to drive improved

practices and optimising the Group’s property portfolio for post-COVID working practices

e Improve measurement and understanding of indirect emissions as they relate to the Group’s broader
supply chain, including by applying the principles of 1ISO 14001 and 50001

e Purchase carbon credits to offset the Scope 1 and 2 emissions shown above and launching green
tariffs that link tree planting to product sales

13
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Going concern
Under Company law, the directors are required to consider whether it is appropriate to prepare financial

statements on the basis that the Group is a going concern.

The Group’s external liabilities include a £400,000,000 Senior Term Loan which is not due for repayment in the
next 12 months, £15000,000 drawn from the Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility which are due for
repayment within the next 12 months but which can, at the Group’s discretion, be rolled over for repayment
after the next 12 months, and £632,945,000 intercompany balances which are repayable on demand The
Group is in 3 net liabilities position and would not have the ability to repay the amount repayable on demand
if payment were sought. As such, the directors have obtained a letter of support from the directors of Panther
Topco Limited confirming that they fill provide financial support to the Group such that the Group is able to
operate as a going concern and settle its liabilities as they fail due. This support inciudes confirmation that
intercompany balances will not be recalled unless adequate alternative financing has been secured by the

Group,

After making adequate enquiries with the directors of Panther Topco Limited, the directors have a reascnable
expectation that the Panther Topco Limited Group has adequate resources to provide the financial support
required to allow the Group to operate as a going concern. These discussions confirmed that the Group is cash
generative and that the Group’s forecasts for the next 12 months demonstrate that on both a base case growth
model and severe but plausible downside case the Group has sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they
fall due and, further, that the Group performance will remain within its financial covenants. On this basis, the
directors are satisfied that they can rely on the letter of suppert and hence that the use of the going concern
assumption is appropriate.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

a) so far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant information of which the Company's auditors
are unaware; and

b) each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of

that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

{ndependent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were appointed as the Company's auditors on 22 February 2023. A resolution to

re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company's auditors will be proposed at the next directors'
meeting.

Approved by the board on 10 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

S BASOTIOROPRTIOT e
Andrew Boland
Director

14
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Panther Bidco Limited
Directors’ responsibility statement in respect of the financial statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' responsibility statement and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards and the Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and appticable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the tinancial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the group
for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

® select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed for the
group financial statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 have been
followed for the company financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

*  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the group and company will continue in business.

The directars are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keepng adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group’s and Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Directors’ Report, confirm that, to the best

of their knowledge:

¢ the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and loss of the Group;

® the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and
financial position of the Company; and

e the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Directors’ responsibility statement in respect of the financial statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022 {continued)

In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

e so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s and
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

e they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s and Company’s auditors

are aware of that information.

Approved by the board on 10 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:
ﬂwl»! Boland
Andrew Boland
Director
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Panther Bidco Limited
(formerly De Facto 2287 Limited)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

» Panther Biico Limited's group financia® staterments and parent company finanoiel slatements (the “financial
statements™) pive 3 true and fair view of the siate of the groups and of the pamnt company's effave as at
31 March 2022 and of the group's loss and the group’s cash fiows for the 17 month perod then ended:;

+ the group financial statements have bean property prepared in accordance with intermational accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

s the parent company financia® statements have baen properly prepared in accordence with United Kingdom Generally
Accepied Accounting Practice (United Kengdom Accounting Standards, inciuding FRS 102 “The Financiel Reparting
Signdand applicable in the UK and Republic of ireland”, and appicabie law); and

¢ the financial stabemnents have been prepared in accordance with the requirernents of the Companies At 2006.

We have audited the financiat staterments, inciuded within the Annual Repart and Financial Staterments, which compnse:
consolidated statement of financia! position and company baelance sheet as 8° 3 March 2022, consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive impome, oonsolidated staterment of changes in equity, consolidabed
cash fiow statement and company statement of changes in equity for the paned then ended; and the notes io the finencial
statements, which include a description of the significant accaurding policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted cur awdit iIn accordance with Intemabona’ Standards on Auditing (UK) {“15As (UK} } and spplicable law. Our

responsibiibes under ISAs (UX) are further described in the Audilors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
siataments section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have pblained is sufficient and appropriate 1o

provide 8 basis for out opinion.

Indeperdence
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have flfilled our other ethical

responsibiibes in accordance with these requiremants.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have npt identified any matena; uncetiambes relating 1o events or conditions
that. individua'ly or collective'y, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent company’s ahilty 1o continue as &
going toncem for a petiod of at keast twehve months from when the financial stiatements are authotised for issue.
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in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the direzors’ use of the going concarn bas:s of accounting in
the preparabon of the financia’ statements is appropriate.

However, because not &l future even's or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group’s
and the parent compary's ability (0 continue as a going concam.

Our responsibiites and the responsibilities of the directors with respect 10 goeing cencern are described in the relevant
sections of this teport

Reporting on other information

The other infformation comprises ai of the information in the Annua! Report other than the financia’ statements and our
auditors' repett thereon. The direciors are responsibie for the other information. Our ppinion on the financial statements
dues 130t cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not EXpress Bn awdt opinion of, excem 1o he axtent otherwise
explicitly stated in this eeport any fom of assurance thereort.

In connection with pur audit of the financiat statements, our responsibitity is to read the other information and, in doing =0,
consider whether the other information is materialy inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowiedge obtained in
the audit, or othewise appears !o be materialy misstated. if we identify an appartent material inconsistency or material
misstaternent, we are requived to perform procedures to conclude whether there is 8 matera’ missiatement of the: financial
statements or a mabenal misstaterment of the ather information. if. based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there 15 a material misstatemnent of this other information, we are required to repor that fact We have nothing to repont

besed on these responsibilites.

With respect to the Strategc report and Directors’ repart, we also considerad whether the disclosures reguired by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have bean included.

Based on our woik undertaken in the course of the audt, the Companies Act 2006 reguires ue also o report certain
opinons and matters as described befow.

Strategic report and Direclors’ report

In our opinion, basad on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the infomation given in the Strategic repornt and
Directors' report fos the period ended 31 March 2022 is consisteni with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable lega! requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and pafent company and their environment cbhiained in tha course
af the audil. we did not identify any matenial misstatemnents int the Strategic repaort and Directors' report

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibiiitics of the directers for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Direclors’ responsibility statement in respect of the fmencia® stalements, the directors are
responsibie for the preparation of the financial statements in accomlance with the appixcable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a frue and fair view. The directors ere a'so responsible for such intemnal controt as they determine is
necessary to enabie the preparation of financial staterments that are free from materia misstatement. whether due to fraud
or e,

in preparing the fnancial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the groups and the parent company's
ability to contimue a5 a going concem, disciosing. as applicabie, matters related ko going concem and using the going
conoem basis of socounting uniess the dinectors either intend o hiquidate the goup or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do s0.
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Augitors’ responsiilitics for the audit of the financial stelenmients

Qur objectives are to cblain reasonabie assurance about whether the financial statements as a whale are fres from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or enmor, and to issue an auditors' repert that inzludes our opinion. Reasonable
assu-ance fs a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audt conducted in accordance with §SAs (LK) wii
awaye detect 8 material missiaternem when i exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error ard are considered
material i, individualy or in the sggregate, they could reasonab’y be expected to infuence the economic detisions of users
taken on the basis of these financia: statements.

Irregula-ites, inctuding fraud, ave metances of noncompfiance wih laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
nnr respansihilitiss entlined ahnwe 0 detect matetial missfalRmMARE N respuect nf imaguianties inclinding fand The sytont
1o which otf procefures are capable of detecting imegularities. including fraud s detafied below.

Based on oJr understand ng of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with l3ws
and regulations related to tax iegisiation and telecommunications mdustry specific legisiation and regulations. and we
consdered the extent 1o which non-compliance might have 8 matera! effect on the financial statements. WWe also
considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financia’ statements such as Companies Act 2005
We evaluated management’s inpentives and opportunities for frauduient manipulation of the financial satements {including
the risk o override of contols), and determined that the principal risks weme relgfed to inapprogriate joumd enires o
increase revenue or Adusted EBITDA, and managemernt bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the
engagemernt team included:

» cbtaining an understanding of %epga’ and regulaiory framework applicable o the group and the company and how the
group and the company is comphying with that framework,

» discussions with managemnent including consideration of known or suspected instances af non-compliance with laws
and reguiatons and freud,

& reviewing minutes of meetings of those chamad with govemnance, where avalable,

» incorporating an element of unpredictability into our audit procedures,

» dentifying and testing joumal entries, including those with unusua! Brecount combinations relating to the principal fraud
risks sef out above: and

» challanging essumpbions and jurdgements made by rmanagement in their signifcamt accounting estimates.

There are inherert fimitations in the sadit procedures described above. We ave less likely to becorw aware of instances of
nen-complance with lews and regulations that are not ciosely relsled to avents and transactions refiected in the Enancial
statamants. Alza. the rick of not detacting a matarial missiatemant dug 1o fraud ic highgar than the rick of not datecting ono
resultng from eTor, 85 raud may involve defberate concealment by, for example. forgery o imentional mistepresentations,
or through colluson,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audi of the financia! statememts s located on the FRC's website at:
v HT.09g. uk/audtoreresponsibibes. | e descnphon torms part of ouT autitors’ report.

Usec of this report

Tnis reper. including the opinions, has been prepared for and onfy for the parent company’s members g5 38 body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these
CpIfuons, Booept O ASSUME fesponsiikty 100 any other puTpose or to any cther person to whom this report 5 shown or Irto
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report to you i, in our opinion:

we have not obtained all the eformation and expianations we reguite for our audit; or
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the paren: cornpany, or retums adeguate for ous audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or
s cerlain disclosures of direztors' remuneration specified by law are not made: or
the parent rampany financial statemenis are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceplions to repet gnsing from this responsibility.

! e
.&z{ A G

Michael Timer {Senior Statutary Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewsterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester

10 March 2023
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Panther Bidco Limited
Consolidated income Statement
for the period ended 31 March 2022

Period from
10 November 2020
Note to 31 March 2022
£'000
Revenile 4 320,086
Cost of sales {219,391}
Gross profit 100,695
Administrative expenses {105,108)
Operating loss 5 (4,413}
Adjusted EBITDA * 63,331
Amortisation (34,177}
Depreciation 13 {1,919}
Net exceptional administrative expenses 7 (26,111)
Qther nen-trading items 8 (5,537}
Operating loss (4,413)
Net finance costs 9 (33,397}
Loss before tax . (37.810)
Tax 10 {2,190)
{40,000}

Loss for the period

All results in the current period derive from continuing activities.

* Adjusted EBITDA comprises operating profit before charging depreciation, amortisation, net exceptional
administrative expenses and other non-trading items which includes non-cash share-based payments.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the period ended 31 March 2022

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive income
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Cash flow hedges:

Gain on hedging instruments designated as a cash flow hedge
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified
subsequently

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax

Total comprehensive loss for the period

Period from

10 November 2020

Note To 31 March 2022
£'000

(40,000)

19 5,182

24 {1,143)

4,038

(35,961)
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Panther Bidco Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2022
31 March 2022

Note £'000
Non-current assets
Goodwill 11 569,152
QOther intangible assets 12 548,615
Property, plant and equipment 13 3,177
Derivative financial instruments 19 3,967
1,124,911
Current assets
Inventories 14 1,158
Trade and other receivables 15 95,325
Corporation tax 3,496
Derivative financial instruments 19 1,215
Cash and bank balances 6,006
107,200
Total assets 1,232,111
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 {88,295}
Borrowings 18 {647,945)
Lease liabilities 23 (684)
Provisions 17 (7,322}
{744,246)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (2,866)
Borrowings 18 {386,827)
Dcferred tax liabilities 24 (131,032}
Provisions 17 (3,101)
(523,826)
Total liabilities {(1,268,072)
Net liabilities {35,961}
Equity
Share capital 20 -
Cash flow hedge reserve 20 4,039
Accumulated losses (40,000)
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent (35,961)

The notes on pages 26 to 59 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents. The consolidated
financial statements on pages 21 to 59 were approved by the Directors and authorised for issue on 10 March
2023 and signed on their behalf by:

DocuSigned by:
I ﬂvwb? Peland
...... BOAGTREGBEBIIRT e eveeerireeenen eae
Andrew Boland
Director

Company registration number 13006615
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Panther Bidco Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the period ended 31 March 2022

Balance at 10 November 2020

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive income for the
period, net of income tax

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the
period

Transactions with owners in their capacity

as owners
Shares issued in the period

Balance at 31 March 2022

Note

20

Share Cash  Accumul Total
capital flow ated equity
hedge losses

reserve
£000 £000 £°000
£000
- - {40,000) {40,000)
- 4,038 - 4,029
- 4,039 {40,000) (35,961)
- 4,03% {40,000) {35,961)
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Panther Bidco Limited
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the period ended 31 March 2022

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period

Adjustments for:
Income tax charge recognised in profit or loss
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss
Share-based payment expense

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in accruals and deferred income
Increase in trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations

Income taxes paid

Net cash generated by operating activities
Investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid for derivative financial instruments

Interest paid on borrowings
Interest received

Interest paid on finance leases
Payment of iease liabilities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Proceeds from borrowings
Payments for debt issue costs

Net cash generated by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Period from

Note 10 November 2020
To 31 March 2022

£000

(40,000)

2,190
33,397
4,511
36,096

36,194

{229)
{24,502)
6,696
1,657

19,816

(7,726)

12,080

13 (1,900)
12 {15,212)
26 (838,403)

{855,515)

(715}

18 (30,206)
7

(92)

(504)

20 -
18 896,054
18 (15,113)

849,431

6,006

6,006
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

1. General Information
The financial information is presented in pounds sterling, rounded to the nearest thousand, because that

is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.

2. Basis of preparation
Basis of accounting
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting
Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as
applicable to reporting under those standards.

The consolidated financial information has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for the revaluation of certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for the assets. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and on the following

pages.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variabie returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.

Fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to selt an asset or paid to transfer a liability in a1 orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or liability, the Group will take into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs into the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Llevel 1inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

& Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

2,

Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern

The Group’s external liabilities include a £400,000,000 Senior Term Loan which is not due for repayment
in the next 12 months, £15,000,000 drawn from the Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility which are due
for repayment within the next 12 months but which can, at the Group’s discretion, be rolled over for
repayment after the next 12 months, and £632,945,000 intercompany balances which are repayable on
demand The Group is in a net liabilities position and would not have the ability to repay the amount
repayable on demand if payment were sought. As such, the directors have obtained a letter of support
from the directors of Panther Topce Limited confirming that they fill provide financial support to the
Group such that the Group is able to operate as a going concern and settle its liabitities as they fall due.
This support includes confirmation that intercompany balances will not be recalled unless adequate
alternative financing has been secured by the Group..

After making adequate enquiries with the directors of Panther Topco Limited, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Panther Topco Limited Group has adequate resources to provide the
financial support required to allow the Group to operate as a going concern. These discussions confirmed
that the Group is cash generative and that the Group’s forecasts for the next 12 months demonstrate
that on both a base case growth model and severe but plausible downside case the Group has sufficient
resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and, further, that the Group performance will remain
within its financial covenants. On this basis, the directors are satisfied that they can rely on the letter of
support and hence that the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate

Adoption of new and revised standards
The Group has adopted the following new standards and amendments, none of which have had a

significant impact on th-ese financial statements:

e [nterest Rote Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 8, IAS 38, IFRS 7, IFRS 4

and IFRS 16)
e [FRS 16 Amendment — COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 june 2021

The Group has not adopted the following new standards and amendments that have been issued but are
not yet effective, which the Directors anticipate will not have a significant impact on these financial
statements in future periods:

IFRS 3 Amendment — Reference to the Conceptual Framework

IAS 16 Amendment — Property, Plant & Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

IAS 37 Amendments — Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfifling a Contract

Annual improvements ta (FRS Standards 2018-2020

1AS 1 Amendment ~ Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Amendment — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

A5 8 Amendment — Definition of Accounting Estimates

IAS 12 Amendments — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

e [IFRS 4 Amendments — Deferral of FRS 9

® & 2 & 0 0 0
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

2.

Basis of preparation (continued)

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readify apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and associated assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates (which are deait with
separately below], that the Directors have made in applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements;

e identification of performance obligations tinder IFRS 15
The Group considers the perfermance obligations asscciated with the connection commission are
npt distinet in nature and will treat these as a single performance obligation along with the
associated contracts, thereby spreading the commission revenue on a straight-line basis over the
expected contract term.

e Exceptional and non-trading items
The Group applies judgement in assessing the substance of transactions to identify those that are
material individually or in aggregate and non-operating in nature. if these are non-recurring in
nature they are presented as exceptional items within the relevant account heading in the
consolidated income statement. I*ems that may give rise to ciassification as exceptional items
include, but are not limited to, significant restructuring or reorganisation programmes, asset
impairments, and transaction fees. If these are recurring non-operating ameounts they are
presented as other non-trading items within the relevant account heading in the consolidated
income statement. items that may give rise to classification as other non-trading items include,
but are not timited to, share-based payments and governance costs. The Directors are of the
opinion that the separate presentation of exceptional and non-trading items provides helpful
information about the Group’s underlying business performance. As a result, exceptional and
non-trading items are excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA, which is the Group’s
primary KPI and also the measure used in calculating the Group’s borrowing covenant.

The following are key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial position date that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year:

* \Vgluation of acquired intangible assets and goodwill
Acquisitions completed in the period resuited in partner relationships, technology platforms, and
brands being recognised as acguired intangible assets as well as the recognition of goodwill. These
are valued using discounted cash flow methods which require the application of certain key
estimates in respect of discount rates, partner churn, and future cash flows.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the pericd ended 31 March 2022

2.

Basis of preparation {continued)
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty {continued)

e Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at
each reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, while other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment only when the Group’s annual assessment of indicators for impairment
suggests that carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, the Group must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details of these assumptions and sensitivities in the valuation are disclosed in note 11.

e Equity-settied share-hased payments

The Panther Topco Limited Group calculates the fair value of equity-settled share-based payment
awards using a Black Scholes model which requires assumptions to be made regarding the
expected life and expected volatility of awards as well as an appropriate risk-free rate of return.
In addition, the Panther Topco Limited Group’s estimate of the expected life of the awards impacts
the period over which the calculated fair value is expensed. This expense is passed on to the
Group via an intercompany recharge to the extent that employees and Directors of the Group are
beneficiaries of the share-based payment awards.

Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and

services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. The Group identifies separate performance
obligations associated with the goods and services provided, then aliocates the transaction price
accordingly using standalone selling prices for guidance on contracts with multiple perfarmance
obligations. Revenue is recognised on each performance obligation when contrel is deemed to have
been transferred. Revenue is presented net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales between Group companies.

To the extent that invoices are raised to a different pattern than the revenue recognition described
below, appropriate adjustments are made through deferred and accrued income to account for revenue
when the respective performance obligations have been met.

The Group has applied the following practical expedients under IFRS 15 in accounting for revenue:

e The promised amount of consideration has not been adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component where, at contract inception, it is expected that the period between when the
promised good or service is transferred to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or
service will be one year or less; and

e The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are recognised as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the asset that would have been recognised is one year or less.
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3.

Significant accounting policies {continued)
Revenue recognition for each of the Group’s main areas of revenue is described below:

e Revenue from goods and services

Where goods and/or services are sold in one bundied transaction, revenue is recognised as and
when the underlying service has been performed or goods have transferred to the customer.
Service income is recognised evenly over the period to which the service relates. Revenue in respect
of licences is recognised only where there are no ongoing obligations ~ where ongoing obligations
exist, revenue is deferred and recognised in line with the discharge of ongoing obligations as
appropriate. Revenue from goods and/or services is included in Mobile, Connectivity, Cloud and
Other revenue from Note 4.

e Revenue from subscription services
Subscription services revenue is recognised in accordance with customer agreements, primarily on
a monthly subscription basis as billed. Term licence revenue covering périods or 12, 24 or 36 manths
are billed at the commencement of the term and recognised as revenue equally over the term
period. Revenue from subscription services is included in Cloud revenue from Note 4.

®  Revenue from commissions

Commissions are received from mobile network operators when the Group connects or retains end
users of their network. The commissions are recognised as income by the Group over the period of
service required by the commission agreement. In particular, when the Group assesses that there
is an ongoing obligation beyond connection, commission is recognised evenly over the period of the
obligation. In some instances, commission income is subject to adjustment by the mobile network
operator. Where this is the case, the Group assesses the likelihood of acjustment by reference to
historical experience and adjusts income accordingly. Revenue from commissions is included in
Mobile revenue in Note 4.

Finance income and expense

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit wil! flow
to the Group and the amount if income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on & time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable.

Borrowing costs and the interest expense component of lease payments are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred using the effective interest rate method. Arrangement fees which
are incurred in relation to long-term financing are amortised over the life of the associated financing using
the effective interest rate method.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

e Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net
profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes iterms that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liahility for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date.

® Deferred tox
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverablie on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the statement of financial position

liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent thatitis probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the
initial recognition {other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit not the accounting profit.

Deferred t:x liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net

basis.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settied, or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

e Current tax and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except where they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and
deferred tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity as appropriate.
Where current or deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in accounting for the business combinaticn.
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3.

Significant accounting policies {continued)

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for under the acquisition method except for

acquisitions of subsidiaries already under common control. The consideration for each acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair value (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes in
such fair value are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement pericd
adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRSs. Changes in the fair
value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognised.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired
entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree
prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised at their face value at the acquisition date, except that:

e Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with 1AS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employment
Benefits respectively;

e Liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-
based payment awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments; and

& Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. These provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets
and/or liabilities recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

In accordance with IAS 36 /mpairment of Assets, goodwill is not amortised, but is reviewed annually for
impairment or more frequently if there are indicators that it may be impaired. For the purposes of
impairment testing, where possible goodwill is allocated to the CGU expected to benefit from the
acquisition and reviewed for impairment using a discounted cash flow method applied to business
farecasts. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is expensed to the consolidated income statement immediately
and is not subsequently reversed. Where there is no method of allocating goodwill to CGUs that is not
arbitrary, goodwill is reviewed for impairment using aggregated cash flow forecasts.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets other than goodwill arise when costs that are directly associated with the acquisition or
development of identifiable and unique assets used by the Group generate economic benefits in excess of
costs for a finite period beyond one year. Intangible assets other than goodwill are initially measured at
either cost or fair value and amortised on a straight-line basis through operating costs in the consolidated
income statement over their useful economic lives, which are reviewed on an annual basis.

The fair value attributable to intangible assets acquired through a business combination is determined by
discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted
average cost of capital for the Group. The residual values of such intangible assets are assumed to be nil.

Acquired customer bases are capitalised at their fair value. Included within customer bases are subscriber
acquisition costs where they meet the criteria for capitalisation as an intangible asset, to the extent that
they are supported by expected future cash inflows. These comprise the direct third-party costs of
recruiting and retaining customers, net of incentives from network operators and provision for in-contract
churn. They are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the customer life and the contractual

period.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
into use specific software programmes. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of
identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate
economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs
include the software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

The estimated useful economic lives of intangible assets other than goodwill are as follows:

Partner refationships 10 to 20 years
Customer lists 210 10 years
Technology platforms 2to 20 years
Brands 3to 20 years
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plont ond equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment |losses.
The cost of a tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing
it into working condition for its intended use. included within the cost for network infrastructure and
equipment are direct labour, contractors’ charges, materiats and directly attributable overheads.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis from the time the asset
is available for use, so as to write off the asset’s cost over the estimated useful life taking into account any
expected residual value, The lives assigned to principal categories of assets are as follows:

Land and buildings remaining lease term

Lteasehold improvements shorter of remaining lease term and 5 years
Network equipment 2to 10 years

Office equipment 2to5years

Computer equipment 2to 5 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset at the date of disposal and is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value, after provisions for
obsolescence. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis and includes transport and handling costs.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less further costs.expected to be incurred to

disposal.

Cash ond cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at bank.

Fingr.cial instruments -
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party te the contractual
provisions of the relevant instrument and derecognised when it ceases to be a party to such provisions.

When financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised, they are measured at fair value being the
consideration given or received plus directly attributable transaction costs.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection is expected within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if langer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are classified as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value, which is usually the originally invoiced amount, and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables where relevant.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. Under the ‘expected credit loss’ model, the
Group analyses the risk prefile of this financial asset based on past experience and an analysis of the
receivables’ current financial position and potential for a default event to occur, adjusted for specific
factors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the receivables operate, and an assessment
of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers.  payment is due within one year or less {or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current liabilities. 1f not, they are classified as non-current
liabilities. Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value, which is usually the original invoiced amount,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The Group makes use of derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising
from financing activities. The interest rate swap is designated as a cash flow hedge. At the inception of
the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge
transaction. At the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the
instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain ar loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. Amounts deferred in equity are recycled
in the consolidated income statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, in the same line of the consolidated income statement as the recognised
hedged item.

it 3

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any
cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised
immediately in the consclidated income statement.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset and a derivative with a negative fair
value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or liability if the
remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months, and it is not expected to be realised or
settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or liabilities.

Controct ossets

Certain costs of obtaining revenue contracts, for example the costs of installing connections that are not
borne by the customer, are recorded as contract assets, disclosed within Trade and other receivables, and
amortised over the anticipated [ife of the associated connection.

Retirement benefits
Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when

employees have rendered the service entitling them to the contribution.
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3.

Significant accounting policies {continued)
Share-bosed poyments

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date. The fair vajue excludes the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest. At each statement of financial position date, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of non-market based vesting conditions. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves of the Company issuing
the shares. Where the employing entity of the beneficiary of the shares is different to the entity issuing
those shares, the expense will be recharged to the appropriate entity via intercompany.

Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, alease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

e The contract inveolves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or implicitly,
and should be physically distinct or represent substantially ali of the capacity of a physically distinct
asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right then the asset is not identified;

¢ The Group has the right to vbtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset
throughout the period of use; and

e The Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has this right when it has the
decision-making rights that re most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is
used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpese the asset is used is
predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset if either

- The Group has the right to operate the asset; or
- The Group designed the asset in & way thiat predetermines how and for what purpose it will

be used.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for the leases of land and buildings and motor vehicles in which it is a lessee, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a

single lease component.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs less any
lease incentive received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method
from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same hasis
as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by
impairment losses, if any, adjusted for changes in estimates of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, and adjusted for certain

remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following:

Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

e Amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
The exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain naot to

terminate early. .

The lease liability is subsequently measured using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in index or rate, if there is a change in the
Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option,

B
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4, Revenue

Continuing operations in the UK
Mobile

Cannectivity

Cloud

Other

Period ended
31 March 2022
£'000

101,557
66,764
85,331
66,434

320,086

Mobile revenue includes business mobile airtime, voice and data solutions. Connectivity revenue
includes ethernet, fibre-to-the-premise, broadband and line rentaf solutions. Cloud revenue includes
licensed software-as-a-service, security and hosted voice solutions. Other revenue includes hardware

sales, partner software tools and traditional voice services.

5. Operating loss

Operating loss has been arrived at after charging:

Employee costs
Auditors’ remuneration:
- Audit fees
- Non-audit fees
Taxation compliance services

Services relating to corporate finance transactions

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
+QOwned assets
- Right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of contract assets

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense

Period ended
31 March 2022
£'000

33,172
750

7
625

1,374
545
32,013
2,164
28,265
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6. Employee costs

Period ended

31 March 2022
£000
Wages and salaries 30,554
Social security costs 3,335
Other pension costs 903
Share-based payments 4,511
39,343
Employee costs capitalised (6,171)
33,172
Average monthly number of employees
Number
Operations 368
Technology 151
Sales 122
Executive and administrative 111
752
Directors’ remuneration
£000
Emoluments ’ 1,806
Share-based payments 371
Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 67
2,244
The number of directors who:
Are members of a defined contribution pension scheme 4
Have interests in shares of the Group under a long-term
incentive scheme ' 3
Remuneration of the highest paid director:
£'000
Emoluments 630
Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 32
662

As at 31 March 2022 there were 5 serving Directors of the Company, all of whom are remunerated by the
Group, and the amounts included above reflect amounts paid to them for their services to the Group.

Three further Directors served during the year but were not remunerated by the Group.

39



DecuSign Envelope ID: CC5984EC-039A-4A33-85F4-5D23E2F9E041

Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

7. Net exceptional administrative expenses
Period ended
31 March 2022
£000

Acquisition-related costs (i) 24,808

Reorganisation and restructuring costs {ii) 1,303

26,111

(i} Acquisition-related costs in the year are one-off costs relating to the Group’s acquisition of Giacom
Group Holdings Limited, DWS Group Moldings Limited, and AKI Group Holdings Limited, and the
establishment of the Group’s capital and financing structure prior to those acquisitions.

(i} Reorganisation and restructuring costs are one-off costs relating to the operational integration of
systems and business processes of the three acquired businesses and any redundancy costs arising from
that integration.

8. Other non-trading items
Period ended
31 March 2022
£'000

Share-based payments (i} 4,511

Governance and monitoring costs (ii) 853

Supplier-related costs {iii} 173

- 5,537
Other non-trading iterns are excluded from Adjusted EBITDA to provide helpful information on the Group's
underlying performance.

{i} Non-cash share-based payments as described in Note 27.

(i) Goverrance and monitoring costs incurred by the Company with respect to board and investor
oversight.

{iif} Supplier-related costs are one-off costs relating to bulk supplier system or customer migrations,

9. Net finance costs

Period ended
31 March 2022

£000

Senior facility interest 32,596
Derivative financial instruments interest 716
Interest on lease liabilities 92
33,404

Interest income on bank deposits (7)
33,397

Net finance costs
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10. Tax
Period ended

31 March 2022

£000
Current tax
UK corporation tax 3,746
Deferred tax
Current year (2,046)
Effect of changes in tax rates 490
{1,556)
Total tax charge 2,190

The charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss from the Consolidated Income Statement as

follows:

£'000
Loss before tax (37,810)
Loss before tax at 19% (7,183}
Adjustments in respect of prior years g3
Non-deductible expenses 7,799
Non-taxable income {78}
Tax rate changes - 490
Group relief {507)
Amounts not recognised 2,442
Local GAAP to IFRS differences (856)
Total tax charge 2,190

Factors that moy offect future tax charges

The Finance Bill 2021, substantively enacted in May 2021, provided for the main rate of corporation tax to
increase to 25% from 1 April 2023. Accordingly, deferred tax for the period ended 31 March 2022 has been
calculated using a tax rate of 25% to the extent that timing differences are expected to reverse after 1 April
2023.
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11. Goodwill
£'000
Cost and net book amount
At the beginning of the period -
Additions 569,152
At 31 March 2022 569,152

Goodwill comprises £569,152,000 arising on the acquisition of Giacom Group Holdings Limited, DWS Group
Heldings Limited, and AK) Group Holdings Limited and their respective subsidiaries on 31 March 2021,
details of which can be found in Note 26. Goodwi!l has been allocated to the Group as a whole due to the
integrated nature of the growth plans for the acquired businesses, with operational integration and an
enhanced customer value proposition from a combined platform being key drivers of the goodwill arising
in the transaction. The Group considered a number of potential bases to allocate goodwill but concluded
there was no appropriate basis that was not arbitrary.

During the period goodwill was tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. In assessing whether an
impairment of goodwill is required, the carrying value of the Group’s net assets is compared to the fair
value of the Group. The Group calculated fair value using a discounted cash flow model, which estimated
the future cash flows and discounts them using a post-tax discount rate of 11.0%.

The key assumptions used in estimating future cash flows are the recurring revenue growth rate, price and
cost inflation, and operating cash conversion. These assumptions have been based on a combination of
past experience and management’s expectations of future growth rates in the industry. The estimate is
based on a 12-year valuation model using internally approved forecasts built on detailed revenue growth
models. A perpetuity calculation is then applied using a long-term growth rate of 3.0% and based on the
final year of the mode!, normalised for known one-off items reflected in that year. On the basis of this
assessment, the Directors consider there is no requirement for impairment of goodwill in the period.

The estimated fair value was materially sensitive to three input assumptions made in deriving the model -
the discount rate, the fong-term growth rate, and recurring revenue growth. A 100 basis point increase in
the discount rate would result in a decrease in the fair value of approximately £154,000,000, and a 50%
reduction in recurring revenue growth across the modelled pericd would result in a decrease in the fair
value of approximately £314,000,000, which would indicate an impairment charge of approximately
£65,000,000 and £225,000,000 respectively. A 100 basis point decrease in the long-term growth rate
would result in a decrease in the fair value of approximately £74,000,000, which does not indicate an
impairment.
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12. Other intangible assets

Partner Technology Brands  Customer Total
relationships platforms lists
£7000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At the beginning of the period - - - - -
Acquisitions through business
Combinations 426,816 88,800 49,800 - 565,416
Additions - 9,731 - 5,481 15,212
At 31 March 2022 426,816 98,531 49,800 5,481 580,628
Accumulated amortisation
At the beginning of the period - - - - -
Amortisation for the period 21,385 6,098 3,312 1,218 32,013
At 31 March 2022 21,385 6,098 3,312 1,218 32,013
Net book amount
At the beginning of the period - - - - -
At 31 March 2022 405,431 92,433 46,488 4,263 548,615
Average remaining amortisation period
(years) 19 16 19 4

Amortisation Is included in the Consolidated income statement within Administrative expenses.

'8

The Group carried out an assessment for indicators of potential impairment in other intangible assets and
found no such indicators.
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Leasehold Network Office Computer Total
buildings improvements equipment eguipment equipment
£'000 £'000 £000 £°000 £'000 £/000

Cost
At the beginning of the
period - - - - -
Acguisitions through
husiness combinations 1,791 371 381 507 965 4,015
Additions 68 4 129 43 1,661 1,900
Disposals -(819) - - - {1} (820)
At 31 March 2022 1,040 375 505 550 2,625 5,095
Accumulated depreciation
At the beginning of the
period - - - - - -
Depreciation for the
period 592 33 208 258 828 1,919
Disposals - - - - (1) (1)
At 31 March 2022 592 33 208 258 827 1,918
Net book amount
At the beginning of the
period - - - - - -
At 31 March 2022 448 342 297 292 1,798 3,177

Depreciation is included in the Consolidated income statement within Administrative expenses

During the period the Group negotiated a shortening of the lease term of one of its properties which
resulted in a modification of the lease accounting in line with the requirement of IFRS 16, reflected as a
disposal of the associated right-of-use asset with a corresponding reduction in the lease liability as

disclosed in Note 23.

Included within property, plant and equipment for the current year at the following right-of-use assets, for
which the Group is the lessee, accounted for in line with the requirements of IFRS 16:
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13 Property, plant and equipment {continued)

14.

Cost

At the beginning of the period

Acquisitions through business combinations
Additions

Disposals

At 31 March 2022

Accumulated depreciation

At the beginning of the period
Depreciation for the period
At 31 March 2022

Net book amount
At the beginning of the period
At 31 March 2022

Inventories

Inventory held for resale

Land and
buildings
£’000

1,696
68
(819)

945

545

545

400

31 March 2022
£000

1,158
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15. Trade and other receivables
31 March 2022

£°000

Trade receivables 27,598
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (972)
Net trade receivables 26,626
Prepayments 50,979
Accrued income 17,124
Amounts due from fellow Panther Topco Group undertakings 10
Other receivables 586
95,325

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair
vatue. Of the trade and other receivables balance, approximately £73,000 is denominated in Euro and
£233,000 is denominated in US Dollars, with the remainder denominated in Sterling.

£34,120,000 of the prepayments balance shown above relate to commissions which are paid to partners
for new connections but recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement over the anticipated contractual
life of that connection. Prepayments and acecrued income of £18,878,000, including £15,221,000 of the
prepaid partner commissions noted above, are due in more than one year from the end of the reporting
period. All other trade and other receivables are due within one year from the end of the reporting period.

Excluding trade receivables, the other classes of receivables disclosed within trade and other receivables
do not contain impaired assets.

r

Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables are as follows:

£'000
At the beginning of the period -
Acguisitions through business combinations 877
Release of provision -
Creation of provision 137
Utilisation of provision {42)
At 31 March 2022 972

The creation and refease of provisions for expected credit losses have been included in the Consolidated
Income Statement within Administrative expenses. Credit risk is managed separately for each customer
type and, where appropriate, a credit limit is set of the customer based on previous experience of the
customer and third-party credit ratings. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a large number of customers.
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16. Trade and other payahles

Amounts due within one year

Trade payables

Accruals

Deferred income

Social security and other taxes

Contingent consideration

Amounts due to fellow Panther Topco Group undertakings
Other payables

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred income
Other payables

31 March 2022
£'000

41,382
16,702
20,622
4,347
429
4,661
152

88,295

2,530
336

2,866

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair

value.

17. Provisions

At the beginning of the period

Acquisitions through business comhbinations
Utilisation of provision

At 31 March 2022

Current
Non-current

Total
£'000

14,254
{3,831)
10,423

31 March
2022
£'000

7,322
3,101
10,423

Provisions mainly refate to adjustments made to the balance sheets of acquired subsidiaries for liabilities
and obligations arising under uneconomic cantracts, and are expected to be fully utilised by 31 March 2024.
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18. Borrowings
31 March 2022

£'000
Amounts due within one year 647,945
Amounts due after more than one year 386,827
Leases 684
1,035,456
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Senior Loans from Leases Total
Debt feliow Panther
£'000 Topco Group £’000 £000
undertakings
£000
At the beginning of the period - - - -
Debt drawn for cash 415,000 481,054 - 896,054
Debt drawn in non-cash exchange - 151,891 - 151,891
Finance fees paid {15,113) - - {15,113)
Finance fees accrued {450} - - (450)
Acquisitions through business
combinations - - 1,641 1,941
Lease repayments - - (504) (504)
New leases - - 66 66
Lease modifications - - (819} {819} -
Interest charged 32,596 - 92 32,688
Interest paid (30,206) - {92} {30,298)
At 31 March 2022 401,827 632,945 684 1,035,456

The Group’s debt consists of a £400,000,000 external Senior Term Loan drawn in March 2021 and maturing
in March 2028 on which interest is charged at a variable rate of SONIA plus CAS plus 7.00%, and a
£632,945,000 loan from the Company’s parent which is unsecured, interest-free, has no fixed date of
repayment, and is repayabfe on demand.

In addition, the Group utilises a £20,000,000 Super-Senior Revolving Facility maturing in March 2027, of
which £15,000,000 was drawn as at 31 March 2022, on which interest is charged at a variable rate of SONIA
plus CAS plus 2.75%, and a £25,000,000 Senior Acquisition & CapEx Facility maturing in March 2028, of
which £nil was drawn as at 31 March 2022, on which interest is charged at a variable rate of SONIA plus
CAS plus 7.00%. Both facilities are drawn in tranches up to 6 months in length and the Group has the ability
to rollover each drawdown at its discretion until maturity of the facilities. It is not the Group’'s current
intention to continue to roliover each drawdown, therefore in accordance with 1AS 1 the liability is

presented as current.

The Senior Debt requires compliance with two financial covenants on a quarterly basis, being a leverage
ratio measured against Adjusted EBITDA that reduces on a quarterly basis through the term of the facility
and which was 9.47x as at 31 March 2022, and a Revolving Facility leverage ratio of 1.0x.

The Group’s Senior debt is guaranteed by way of English law governed charges over the assets of the
Company, the Company’s parent {Panther Holdco Ltd), and certain other subsidiaries of the Group.
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19.

Financial instruments and risk management

The Group’s capital structure consists of a mixture of long-term interest-free borrowing, short-term
variable rate borrowing, a long-term derivative financial instrument, and ordinary share capital. The long-
term and short-term borrowings provide, in the opinion of the Directors, an appropriate combination of
fixed instruments and more flexible, available-on-demand facilities, with the Group's capital management
objective being to safeguard and support the business as a going concern through the business cycle. The
derivative financial instrument exists to hedge interest rate risk arising from this capital structure while
other risks, including eredit risk and liquidity risk, arise from exposures that occur in the normal course of
business and are managed by the Group’s Finance team. The responsibilities of the Group’s Finance team
include, among others, the monitoring of financial risks, management of cash resources, debt and capitat
structure management, and oversight of all significant treasury activities undertaken by the Group.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, and
derivatives used for risk management purposes. The Group’s accounting policies with regard to financial
instruments are detailed in Note 3.

Derivatives, financial instruments and risk management
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage certain exposures to fluctuations in interest
rates. The Group does not hold speculative financial instruments.

Following the drawdown of the Group’s £400,000,000 Senior Term facility, the Group entered into an
interest rate swap with notional value £200,000,000 to hedge potential movement in the SONIA interest
rate benchmark. The instrument, which receives interest at the SONIA interest rate, pays interest at a fixed
rate of 0.9585%, and expires on 30 September 2024, was desighated an effective cash flow hedge on
inception based on a qualitativ 2 assessment of the economic relationship between the instrument and the
hedged item, which established an appropriate match of critical terms, identified no sources of potential
hedge ineffectiveness, and confirmed that credit risk would not dominate fair value movements.

The fair value of this instrument as at 31 March 2022 is a £5,182,000 asset. The Directors consider this to
be a Level 2 valuation in the hierarchy set out in Note 2, with the valuation being calculated by third-party
experts, PMC Consulting, and based on the discounted value of expected future cash fiows arising from the
instrument. During the period a gain of £4,039,060 {net of associated deferred tax} has been recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Interest rate risk

The Group has financial assets and liabilities which are exposed to changes in market interest rates.
Changes in interest rates primarily impact borrowings by changing their future cash flows.
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19 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Floating Floating/ Fixed Non- Total
rate fixed rate Rate interest
swap hearing
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £°000
At 31 March 2022
Financial assets
Measured at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments) - - - 44,346 44,346
Cash and bank balances 6,006 - - - 6,006
Measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments in
effective hedging relationships * - 5,182 - - 5,182
6,006 5,182 - 44,346 55,534

Financial liabilities
Measured ot amortised cost
Borrowings * 401,827 -
Trade and other payables
(excluding deferred income,

632,945 1,034,772

social security and other taxes) - - - 63,661 63,661
Lease liabilities - - 634 - 684
401,827 - 684 696,606 1,099,117

*  The derivative financial mstruments in effective hedging relationships hedge the exposure to variable interest rates of £200m of
notionat principal of the Group’s floating rate borrowings.

There are no material differences between the carrying value of the financial assets and liabilities set out
above and their respective fair values as at 31 March 2022,

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk arises as a resuit of transactions in the Group’s ordinary course of business and is
applicable to all financial assets. Investments in cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial
instruments are with approved counterparty banks. Counterparties are assessed prior to, during, and after
the conclusion of transactions to ensure exposure to credit risk is limited to an acceptable level. The
rmaximum exposure with respect to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset
on the Statement of Financial Position.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of trade receivables. The Group is not reliant on any particular
customer in any of the markets in which it operates, with its trade spread across a targe number of
customers, and so there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Appropriate credit checks are
undertaken on all potential customers before new contracts are accepted, and individual exposures are
monitored with customers subject to credit limits to ensure the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
minimised. The ameunts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are net of allowances for
doubtful receivables, estimate by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their
assessment of the current economic environment on lifetime expected credit losses.
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19 Financial instruments and risk management {continued}

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities as they fal
due. The Group’s approach to managing this risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liguidity to meet its obligations when due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group actively forecasts, manages and reports its working capital
requirements on a regular basis to ensure that it has sufficient funds for its operations.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period as at the Statement of Financial Position date to the
contractual maturity date, The amounts disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Within one year Between  After five years Total
one and
£000 five years £000
£000 £'000
At 31 March 2022
Floating rate
Senior debt 45,758 123,034 430,758 599,550
Fixed rate
Lease liabilities 419 317 - 736
Other
Loans from fellow Panther Topco
Group undertakings 632,945 - - 632,945
Trade and other payables &
{excluding contingent
consideration, deferred income,
and social security and other taxes) 62,895 336 - 63,231
742,017 123,687 430,758 1,296,462
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20 Share capital, share premium and reserves

21

Number of  Share capital

shares £°000
At 31 March 2022
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary Shares 2 -
2 .

During the period, the Company issued 2 Ordinary Shares for cash consideration of £2.

Cash flow Accumulated
hedge losses
reserve

£'000 £°000

Balance at the beginning of the period - -
Loss for the period - (40,000)
Other comprehensive income for the pericd, net of income tax 4,039 -
Equity-settled share-based payments - -
Balance at 31 March 2022 4,039 {40,000)

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative amounts of gains and losses on hedging
instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging
instrurfient is recognised in profit or loss only when the hedged tr- nsaction impacts the profit or loss.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees. The
scheme is a stakeholder pension with the funds held within a discretionary trust by the scheme provider.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to remit the appropriate
employer and employee contributions within time limits specified by the scheme.

The total cost charged to the Consolidated Income Statement of £903,000 represents contributions
payable to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. As at 31 March 2022,
contributions of £32,000 due in respect of the current reperting period had not been paid over to the
scheme,
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22 Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between companies within the Group which are related parties have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note, The full list of subsidiaries of the Group is

disclosed in Note 25.

Key management personnel
The compensation paid or payable to Directors of the Group for employee services is presented in Note 6.

The Group’s Executive Management Team, which includes some of the Group’s Directors and some
additional senior employees, are also considered to be key management personnel of the Group. The
remuneration of these members of key management personnel, together with the Directors of the Group,

during the period was as set out below:
Period ended 31

March 2022

£000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 3,045
Share-based payments 4,511
Post-employment benefits 895
7,651

In addition to the remuneration shown above, certain members of key management personnel
participated in and benefited from the acquisition by the Group of DWS Group Holdings Limited, Giacom
Group Holdings Limited, and AKJ Group Holdings Limited (see Note 26). Members of key management
personnel, in their capacity as shareholders of the acquired businesses, received £163,262,000
consideration in the form-of £16,704,000 of cash and £146,558,000 of Consideration ! oan Notes which
were subsequently converted into loans from the Company’s parent

Other related party transactions

Inflexion Private Equity Partners LLP provides key management personnel services to the Group. An
expense of £302,000 was recognised as an Other non-trading item within administrative expenses during
the period in relation to the provision of these services, and no amounts were outstanding at the end cf

the period.

Matthew Riley, a Director of the Company, is @ member of a private partnership, Riley Enterprises, which
is the landlord for one of the Group’s properties and had transactions with subsidiary companies during
the period. An expense of £90,000 was recognised in administrative expenses during the period, and no
amounts were outstanding at the end of the period. The transactions arose in the ordinary course of the

Group’s trading business.
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23

Leases

Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

All of the Group’s leases relate to property and motor vehicles.

Lease liabilities held in the Statement of Financial Position

Current
Non-current

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows

Total cash out-flows for leases

31 March 2022
£000

415
317

736

31 March 2022
£'000

684

684

Period ended 31
March 2922
£'000

596

586
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24 Deferred tax

The Group deferred tax liability included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

31 March 2022

£'000
Intangible assets 132,511
Temporary trading differences {198)
Cash flow hedges 1,143
Fair value adjustments (2,424}
131,032
The Group movements in deferred tax liability in the period are as follows:
£°000
At the beginning of the period -
Arising through business combinations 131,445
Consolidated Income statement credit for the period {1,556}
Amounts charged to other comprehensive income 1,143
131,032

At 31 March 2022

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary trading differences and fair value adjustments have been
recognised as, in the opinion of the Directors, the Group is expected to make sufficient profits against

which these tax assets can be set off in the future. ‘

=

The Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets of £3,550,000 as at 31 March 2022 relating to corporate
interest restriction and unpaid interest as the Group does not forecast these positions reversing.
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25 Ultimate controlling party and subsidiary companies

Ultimate controlling party

Panther 8idco Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated and registered in England and Wales.
The ultimate controlling party is Panther Topco Limited, a company limited by shares incorporated and
registered in England and Wales. Panther Bidco Limited’s immediate parent company is Panther Holdco
Limited, a company limited by shares incorporated and registered in England and Wales.

Subsidiary companies
As at 31 March 2022 the Group’s subsidiary companies were as tollows:

Name Country of Nature of business % of ordinary
incorporation shares held
by the Group

Giacom Group Hoeldings Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Project Seattle Topco Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Project Seattle Bidco Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Giacorm Holdings Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Giacom World Networks Limited UK IT services 100%
Giacom Cloud Services Europe Limited Ireland Dormant 100%
Giacom inc USA Dormant 100%
DWS Group Holdings Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Digital Wholesale Solutions Holdings Limited UK Nen-trading 100%
Digital Wholesale Solutions Group Limited UK Non-trading ‘ 100%
Digital Wholesale Solutions Limited UK Telecomm'umcatlon 100%
services
O-Bit Telecom Limited UK Dormant 100%
Murph-X Innovative Solutions Limited UK Dormant 100%
Anglia Telecom Centres Limited UK Telecomm‘umcatlon 100%
services
Worldwide Connect Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Digital Wholesale Solutions Worldwide Limited UK Telecomm.unn:atlon 100%
services
AKJ Group Holdings Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Aurora Kendrick James Group Limited UK Non-trading 100%
Aurora Kendrick James Limited UK IT services 100%
Union Street Technologies Limited UK IT services 100%
Shaftesbury Systems Limited UK IT servites 100%
Elder Studios Limited UK IT services 100%
Elder Technologies Limited SRO Czech IT services 100%
Republic

All of the subsidiaries listed above are unlisted and have been included in the consolidation. In all cases
the Group’s 100% shareholding gives the Group 100% of voting rights in each subsidiary. The Company’s
direct subsidiaries are Giacom Group Holdings Limited, DWS Group Holdings Limited, and AKJ) Group

Holdings Limited.
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25 Ultimate controlling party and subsidiary companies (continued)

The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of individual accounts
under s479A-479¢ of the Companies Act 2006:

Project Seattle Topco Limited 11051394
Project Seattle Bidco Limited 11051889
Giacom Holdings Limited 10060145
NWS Group Holdings Limited 13083545
Digital Wholesale Solutions Holdings Limited 11698405
Digital Wholesale Solutions Group Limited 13078299
AKJ Group Holdings Limited 13083544
Aurora Kendrick James Group Limited 13076868
Shaftesbury Systemns Limited 03038392
Elder Studios Limited 08108254

The largest Group of which the Company is a member and for which consolidated financial staternents
are prepared is the Panther Topco Limited Group. The registered office, from which copies of Panther
Topco Limited’s financial statements are available, is Milton Gate, 60 Chiswell Street, London EC1 4AG.

The smallest Group of which the Company is a member and for which consolidated financial statements
are prepared is the Panther Bidco Limited Group. The registered office, from which copies of Panther
Bidco Limited’s financial statements are available, is Milton Gate, 60 Chiswell Street, London EC1 4AG.

26 Business combinations

On 31 March 2021 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of DWS Group Holdings Limited, a
provider of mobile communication and connectivity services to channel partners supporting SMB
customers, Giacom Group Holdings Limited, a provider of cloud technology solutions to channel partners
support SMB customers, and AKJ Group Holdings Limited, a provider of software solutions to channel
partners supporting SMB customers, for total consideration of £1,000,271,000 consisting of £848,383,000
of cash and £151,891,000 of consideration toan notes which, through a call option, were converted into
loans fram the Company’s immediate parent. The ohjective of the acquisitions is to access the operational
synergies and growth potential of the combined businesses.

Consideration transferred

£000

Cash 848,380
Consideration loan notes 151,891
1,000,271
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Z6. Business combinations (continued]

Fair value of assets acquired and liobilities recognised at the date of acquisition

Non-current assets

Intangibles

Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Non-current liabilities
Other nen-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total identifiable net assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration transferred

tess: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

£'000

565,416
4,015
4,339

929
72,988
13,022

(77,695)

{16,111)
(135,784}

431,119

€000

1,000,271

(431,119}

569,152

The fair value of the Trade and other receivables acquired includes £877,000 of provision for expected
credit losses and so has gross contractual value of £74,432,000.

The goodwiil is attributable to the operational synergies and growth potential of the combined

businesses, and the Group does not expect it to be deductible for tax purposes.

All turnover and operating profit recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income for the period
ended 31 March 2022 are as a result of the business combinations detailed above.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Cash consideration paid
Less: cash and bank balances acquired

Business Deferred Total
combinations  consideration on
completed in the business
period combinations
completed in
earlier periods
£°000 £000 £000
848,380 3,045 851,425
{13,022) - {13,022}
835,358 3,045 838,403
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27 Share-based payments

28

Certain subscribers tothe  Ordinary B shares of the Company’s ultimate parent, Panther Topco Limited,
are also Directors and employees of the Group, and their interests in those shares are subject to certain
leaver provisions set out in the Panther Topco Limited s Articles. The shares will realise value for the
beneficiaries, subject to certain conditions, on the event of an exit as defined in the Company’s Articles.
The Fair Market Value at maturity of the shares has been calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing
modeil.

31 March 2022
Weighted average
Fair Market Value

Number of shares

£
QOutstanding at the beginning of the period - -
Issued during the period 746,278 35.49
Forfeited during the period - -
Exercised during the period - -
QOutstanding at 31 March 2022 746,278 35.49

The inputs in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:
31 March 2022

Weighted average expected life 4.8 years
Expected volatility 30%
Risk-free rate 0.5%

The expected volatility was determined by benchmarking comparable companies in the UK mobile,
telephony and connectivity technology sector over the historical period that matches the expected term
of the shares. The expected life is management’s best estimate of the likely timing of an exit as defined in
the Company’s articles.

The Group recognised total expenses of £4,511,000 related to equity settled share-based payment
transactions in the period, which were recharged to the Group by Panther Topco Limited. The weighted
average remaining contractual life of shares in issue at 31 March 2022 was 4 years.

Contingencies

The Group’s Senior debt is guaranteed by way of English law governed charges over the assets of the
Company, the Company's parent {Panther Holdco Limited),  and certain other subsidiaries of the Group.
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Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets
Financial derivatives

Debtors

Total assets

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings: amounts falling due within one year

Total assets less current liabilities

Borrowings: amounts falling due within more than one year
Deferred Tax

Net assets

Equity

Called up share capital
Cash flow hedge reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity

The notes on pages 62 to 68 are an integral part of these Company financial statements.

Note

Ce

o
Cc7

cs8
€9

€9
C10

ci1
co

31 March 2022
£'000

304,276

5,183
728,716

733,900

1,038,175

(58,310)
(647,945)

{706,255}

331,920

{386,827)
{(1,143)

(387,970)

{56,050)

4,039
(60,089)

{56,050)

The Company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present
the Company income statement. The loss for the Company for the period was £60,089,000.

The Company financial statements on pages 60 to 68 were approved by the Directors and authorised for issue

on 10 March 2023 and signed on their behalf by:

DocuSigned by:
@w}», Poland
N BEAOTZBLEABIA - v av v ereen avarrn e
Andrew Boland
Director
Company registration number 12987863
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Panther Bidco Limited
Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the period ended 31 March 2022

Note

Balance at 10 November 2020
Loss for the period

Other comprehensive income for
the period, net of income tax
Total comprehensive loss for the
period

Transactions with owners in their

capacity as owners
Shares issued in the period ci1

Balance at 31 March 2022

Share Cash flow  Accumulated Total equity
capital hedge losses
reserve
£°000 £'000 £'000 £°000
- - {60,089) {60,089)
- 4,039 - 4,039
- 4,039 (60,089) {56,050}
- 4,039 (60,085} {56,050)
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

o |

Basis of preparation

The Company is a private company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in the UK, registered in
England and Wales at registered address Milton Gate, 60 Chiswel! Street, London EC1 4AG, and its principal
activity is that of a holding company. The functiona! currency of the Company is considered to be pounds
sterling because that is the operational currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates.

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, under
the historical cost cenvention, and are in accordance with applicable law and Financial Reporting Standard
102 (FRS 102} issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Unless otherwise stated, all policies have been
applied consistently throughout the current period.

The Company is a qualifying entity as defined under FRS 102 and has therefore taken exemptions available
to it in the preparation of its financial statements. Exemptions have been taken in relation to financial
instruments, the cash flow statement, intra-group transactions and remuneration of key management
personnel. The cash flow of the Company is included within the consolidated cash flow statement of

Panther Topco Limited,

Going concern
The Company’s external liabilities include a £400,000,000 Senior Term Loan which is not due for

repayment in the next 12 months, £15,000,000 drawn from the Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility
which are due for repayment within the next 12 months but which can, at the Group’s discretion, be
rolled over for repayment after the next 12 months, and £632,945,000 intercompany balances which are
repayable on demand. The Company is in a net liabilities position and would not have the ability to repay
the amount repayable on demand f payment were sought. As such, the directors have obtained a letter
of support from the directors of Panther Topco Limited confirming that they fill provide financial support
to the Group such that the Group is able to operate as a going concern and settle its liabilities as they fall
due. This support includes confirmation that intercompany balances will not be recalled unless adequate
alternative financing has been secured by the Group.

After making adequate enquiries with the directors of Panther Topco limited, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Panther Topco Limited Group has adequate resources to provide the
financial support required to allow the Company to operate as a going concern. These discussions
confirmed that the Group is cash generative and that the Group’s forecasts for the next 12 months
demonstrate that on both a base case growth model and severe but plausible downside case the Group
has sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and, further, that the Group performance will
remain within its financial covenants, On this basis, the directors are satisfied that they can rely on the
letter of support and hence that the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1 above, the
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and associated assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period inwhich the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

C1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates {which are dealt with
separately below) that the Directors have made in applying the Company’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

e Recoverability of intercompany balances
The Directors apply judgement in assessing the recoverability and, therefore, valuation of

intercompany balances, critical tn which is the letter of support obtained from the directors of
Panther Topeo Limited canfirming that intercompany balances will not be recalled unless adequate
alternative financing has been secured.

The following is the key source of estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial position date that
has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year:

®  Fguity-settied share-based payments
The Company calculates the fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards using a Black
Scholes model which requires assumptions to be made regarding the expected life and expected
volatility of awards as well as an appropriate risk-free rate of return. In addition, the Company’s
estimate of the expected life of the awards impacts the period over which the calculated fair value

is expensed.

€2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Fixed asset investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for any

impairment. In the opinion of the directors the values of such investments are not less than shown at the
balance sheet date.

Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the results for the period and takes into account taxation deferred

because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting
purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future
or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are
differences between the taxable profits/(losses} and results as stated in the financial statements that arise
from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods being different from those in which

they are recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is measured at the average rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares

or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

€2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

c3

ca

Where the Company purchases its own equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs {net of income taxes), is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders.

Financial instruments

The Company has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at the transaction price (including transaction costs),
except for those financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured
at fair value (which is normally the transaction price excluding transaction costs), unless the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction. If an arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the financial asset
or financia! liability is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of

interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the statement of financial position only when there exists a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Commitments to make and receive loans which meet the conditions mentioned above are measured at cost
{which may be nil} less impairment.

Financial assets are derecognised only when a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire or are settled, b} the Company transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or ¢} the Company, despite having retained some, but not all,
significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred control of the asset to another party. Financial
liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or

expires.

Employee costs and Directors’ remuneration

The company had no employees in the period. Remuneration totalling £1,400,000 was borne by the
Company in the period, including £718,000 payable to the Company’s Directors. The total emoluments of
the Company’s Directors, including those borne by other Group companies, are disclosed in Note & of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fees totalling £400,000 were borne by the Company in the period. The remainder of the auditors’
remuneration, as detailed in Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, is borne by the Company’s
trading subsidiaries in the period.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

C5 Taxation

Current tax
UK corporation tax

Deferred tox
Current year

The charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss from the Income Statement as follows:

Loss before tax

Loss before tax at 19%
Non-deductible expenses
Group relief

Amounts not recognised

C6 Investments

DWS Group Heoldings Limited
AKJ Group Holdings Limited
Giacom Group Holdings Limited

Period ended
31 March 2022
£'000

£'000

(60,089)

(11,417}
6,656
2,153
2,568

31 March 2022
£000

302,274
2,002

304,276

In the period the Company acquired the entire share capital of DWS Group Holdings Limited for
£302,274,000, the entire share capital of AK) Group Holdings Limited for £2,002,000, and the entire share
capital of Giacom Group Hotdings Limited for £1.. A fult list of the Company’s indirect subsidiaries is shown

in Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

C7 Debtors
31 March 2022
£'000
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 728,706
Amounts owed by fellow Panther Topco Group undertakings 10
728,716

8

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free, have no fixed date ot repayment and
are recoverable on demand.

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

31 March 2022

£000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 55,902
Amounts owed to fellow Panther Topco Group undertakings 150
Accruals 2,259
58,310

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free, have no fixed date of repayment and
are repayable on demand.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 March 2022

C9 Borrowings

31 March 2022
£000
Senior debt 401,827
Unsecured amounts due to fellow Panther Topco Group
undertakings 632,945
1,034,772
31 March 2022
£'000
Amounts due within one year 647,945
Amounts due after more than one year 386,827
1,034,772
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:
Senior debt Amounts due to Total
£'000 fellow Panther £'000
Topco Group
undertakings
£'000
At the beginning of the period - - -
Debt drawn for cash 415,000 481,054 896,054
Debt drawn in non-cash exchange - 151,891 151,891
Finance fees paid {15,113) - {15,113)
Finance fees accrued {450) - (450}
Interest charged 32,556 - 32,596
Interest paid {30,206} - (30,206)
At 31 March 2022 401,827 632,945 1,034,772

The Company’s Senior debt is guaranteed by way of English law governed charges over the assets of the
Company, the Company’s parent {Panther Holdco Ltd), and certain other subsidiaries of the Group.
Following the drawdown of the Group’s £400,000,000 Senior Term facility, the Group entered into an
interest rate swap with notional value £200,000,000 to hedge potential movement in the SONIA interest
rate benchmark. The instrument, which receives interest at the SONIA interest rate, pays interest at a fixed
rate of 0.9585%, and expires on 30 September 2024, was designated an effective cash flow hedge on
inception based on a qualitative assessment of the economic relationship between the instrument and the
hedged item, which established an appropriate match of critical terms, identified no sources of potential
hedge ineffectiveness, and confirmed that credit risk would not dominate fair value movements.

The fair value of this instrument as at 31 March 2022 is a £5,183,000 asset, £1,215,000 of which the
Directors expect to be receivable within one year of the Balance Sheet date. The Directors consider this to
be a Level 2 valuation in the hierarchy set out in Note 2, with the valuation being calculated by third-party
experts, PMC Consulting, and based on the discounted value of expected future cash flows arising from the
instrument. During the period a gain of £4,039,000 {net of associated deferred tax} has been recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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Panther Bidco Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the pericd ended 31 March 2022

C10 Deferred tax

11

C12

C13

The Company deferred tax liability included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

31 March 2022

£000
Cash flow hedges 1,143
The Group movements in deferred tax liability in the period are as follows:
£'000
At the start of the period -
Amounts charged to other comprehensive income 1,143
At 31 March 2022 1,143
Called up share capital and reserves
Number of shares Share capital
£
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary Shares 2 2

During the period, the Company issued 2 ordinary shares for cash consideration of £2.

Related party transactions

The Company has undertaken transactions with wholly ewned members of the Panther Bidco Limited
group, which are exempt from disclosure under FRS 102. Further related party transactions of the
Company are included within Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies

The Company's Senior debt is guaranteed by way of English law governed charges over the assets of the
Company, the Company’s immediate parent (Panther Holdco Limited), and certain other subsidiaries of the

Company.
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